Report of The Judicial Council 2019



BRIDGETOWN, BARBADOS

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

25 September 2020

Hon. Dale D. Marshall, Q.C., M.P.
Attorney General and Minister of Legal Affairs
Office of the Attorney General
Jones Building
Webster's Business Park
Wildey
St. Michael

Dear Attorney General

In accordance with Section 93(4) of the Supreme Court of Judicature Act, Cap. 117A, I submit for your attention the Reports of the Judicial Council for the period 1 January to 31 December 2019.

The Council apologises for the protracted delay in submission.

Yours faithfully

RAJENDRA NARINE

Chief Justice (Ag.) and Chairman

of the Judicial Council

Table of Contents

	Page
Introduction	1
Membership of the Judicial Council	2
Changes in Membership	2
Meetings Held	3
Budget of the Judicial Council	3
Work and Activities	3
Drug Treatment Court	3
The Judicial Reform and Institutional Strengthening Project	3
The Barbados Bench Bar Journal	4
Practice Directions	5
Continuing Education and Training	6
Judicial Retreat	7
Volume of Litigation in the Supreme Court	7
Court of Appeal	7
High Court	8
Volume of Litigation in the Magistrates' Court	11
Attorneys-at-Law	14
Obituary	15

INTRODUCTION

The Judicial Council continued to be plagued with the difficulty of securing accurate statistics from the Magistrates' Courts as well as some of the criminal cases in the High Court, despite the best efforts of our Statistical Clerk. The bright light waiting in the wings to be shone on this, however, is that we continue to have discussions on the digitisation of the Magistrates' Courts. With the kind assistance of the United States National Center for State Courts and the Judiciary of Trinidad and Tobago, some preliminary discussions have begun on this project to bring the magistracy into technological equivalence with the Supreme Court.

In 2019, the process of drafting rules began in preparation for the APEX e-filing module which is to go into operation in October 2020.

RAJENDRA NARINE Chairman, Judicial Council and Chief Justice (Ag.) 25 August 2020

MEMBERSHIP OF THE JUDICIAL COUNCIL

As at 31 December 2019, the members of the Judicial Council were as follows:

Hon. Sir Marston C.D. Gibson, K.A., Chief Justice - Chairman

Hon. Kaye Goodridge, Justice of Appeal

Hon. Mr. Justice Rajendra Narine, Justice of Appeal

Hon. William Chandler, Justice of Appeal (ag.)

Hon. Margaret Reifer, Justice of Appeal (ag.)

Hon. Randall Worrell, Judge of the High Court

Hon. Jacqueline Cornelius, Judge of the High Court

Dr. the Hon. Sonia Richards, Judge of the High Court

Dr. the Hon. Olson Alleyne, Judge of the High Court

Hon. Michelle Weekes, Judge of the High Court

Hon. Pamela Beckles, Judge of the High Court

Hon. Cecil McCarthy, Judge of the High Court

Hon. Christopher Birch, Judge of the High Court

Hon. Barry Carrington, Judge of the High Court

Hon. Cicely Chase, Judge of the High Court

Hon. Carlisle Greaves, Judge of the High Court (temporary)

Hon. Laurie-Ann Smith-Bovell, Judge of the High Court (temporary)

Ms. Deborah Holder, Master of the High Court

Mrs. Barbara Cooke-Alleyne QC, Registrar of the Supreme Court

Mr. Ian Weekes, Chief Magistrate

Ms. Jennifer Edwards QC, Solicitor General

Mrs. Rosalind Smith Millar QC, President of the Barbados Bar Association

Mr. Barry Gale OC, Attorney-At-Law

Ms. Liesel Weekes. Attorney-at-Law

Mr. Sean Lewis, Attorney-at-Law

Mr. Christopher Maynard, Member

Mrs. Coreen Kennedy-Taitt

Ms. Sandra Reeves, Secretary

CHANGES IN MEMBERSHIP

The Hon. Mr. Justice Andrew Burgess took up the Office of Judge of the Caribbean Court of Justice on 18 January 2019.

The following appointments took effect from 1 October 2019:

- Hon. Mr. Justice Rajendra Narine, Justice of Appeal
- . Hon. Mr. Justice Cecil McCarthy, Judge of the High Court
- · Hon. Mr. Justice Christopher Birch, Judge of the High Court
- Hon. Mr. Justice Barry Carrington, Judge of the High Court
- · Hon. Madam Justice Cicely Chase, Judge of the High Court

- Hon. Mr. Justice Carlisle Greaves, temporary Judge of the High Court
- · Hon. Madam Justice Laurie-Ann Smith-Bovell, temporary Judge of the High Court

MEETINGS HELD

Three meetings were held for the year under review.

BUDGET OF THE JUDICIAL COUNCIL

For the fiscal year 2019/2020, there was an allocation of \$152,994.00 to enable the Council to carry out its statutory responsibilities and facilitate its work programme. The vote is administered by the Cabinet Office.

Statement of Accounts

Approved by Parliament	\$152,994.00
Expenditure as at December 31, 2019	116,464.96
Balance available to March, 2020	36,529.04

WORK AND ACTIVITIES

Drug Treatment Court

The graduation of third cohort of fifteen (15) clients of the Drug Treatment Court (DTC) took place on 25 February 2019 at the District D Magistrate's Court.

The Judicial Reform and Institutional Strengthening (JURIST) Project

The Honourable Chief Justice, Sir Marston Gibson, K.A. attended a JURIST Project Steering Committee (PSC) Meeting which was held on 28 March 2019 at the Hyatt Regency Hotel in Port-of-Spain, Trinidad and Tobago. The purpose of the meeting was to update Members on the status of the request to Global Affairs Canada for a future four years of programming for the Project.

In August 2018, the JURIST Project in association with the Judiciary of Barbados hosted two, one-week mediation training workshops at the University of the West Indies Cave Hill Campus for 44 mediators. The second phase of that training comprised of Mediation Advocacy & Sensitisation for varying stakeholders in the form of a sensitization workshop which was held at the Radisson Aquatica Resort on Tuesday, 14 May 2019 and was conducted by the Hon. Madam Justice Charmaine Pemberton, Justice of Appeal of the Supreme Court of Trinidad & Tobago.

A two-day training session in Gender Sensitive Adjudication took place from 26 to 27 July 2019, at the Radisson Aquatica Hotel. The training was held to sensitize members of the Judiciary and Magistracy with respect to the provisions of the Gender Protocol. The facilitators for the training sessions were the Hon. Madam Justice Lisa Ramsumair-Hinds, Judge of the High Court of Trinidad and Tobago, the Hon. Mr. Justice Peter Jamadar, Judge of the Caribbean Court of Justice and Ms. Tonni Broder, Deputy Representative, UN Women.

A final two-day training session on Gender Sensitive Adjudication and Training was held on 6 to 7 December 2019, at the Radisson Aquatica Resort. This training was to further sensitize members of the Judiciary to the provisions of the Gender Protocol and to establish the measures to be taken for its purposeful incorporation into local rules. The facilitators for the training sessions were the Hon. Madam Justice Lisa Ramsumair-Hinds, Judge of the High Court and Acting Master Carl Quamina, of the High Court of Trinidad and Tobago.

In June 2019, following successful public education and engagement consultations in Barbados, JURIST announced that the Project was ready to commence the development and implementation of programming in this area. To this end, JURIST invited the Barbados Judiciary to establish a Public Education and Engagement Working Group/Board (PEEWG/B) to support the judiciary in the development, delivery, implementation, monitoring and evaluation and sustainability of programs with regard to reform activities in Barbados. The working group was established in September 2019 and the members are as follows:

Sir Marston Gibson, K.A. - Chief Justice Hon. Mr. Justice Jefferson Cumberbatch - Justice of Appeal

Hon. Mr. Justice Cecil McCarthy - Judge of the High Court

Mrs. Barbara Cooke-Alleyne - Registrar of the Supreme Court

Professor Velma Newton - Director of Impact Justice

Ms. Liesel Weekes - Barbados Bar Association Representative

Mr. Corey Layne - Founder of the Nature Fun Ranch
Mrs. Harriette Payne - Mediation Coordinator (Ag.)
Mrs. Julia Rawlins-Bentham - Information Officer (BGIS)

The Barbados Bench Bar Journal

The Barbados Bench Bar Journal represents the first joint publication of the Judiciary and the Barbados Bar Association, to commemorate 50 years of Barbadian Independence and 50 years of an independent Barbadian Judiciary. The publication of the Journal was made possible through the generous financial assistance of the Impact Justice Project and was published in 2018 by the Bench Bar Charity.

The Editorial Committee comprised of the following persons:

- Dr. the Hon. Madam Justice Sonia Richards Judge of the High Court
- Ms. Liesel Weekes
 President, Barbados Bar Association
- Mrs. Kristin Turton
 Secretary, Barbados Bar Association
- Dr. Lenda Blackman Attorney-at-Law
- Ms. Ona Harewood Attorney-at-Law
- Ms. Jaydene Thomas Attorney-at-Law
- Ms. Alicia Archer Attorney-at-Law
- Mr. Bryan Weekes Attorney-at-Law
- Mr. Philip McWatt Attorney-at-Law
- Mr. Rashad Brathwaite Attornev-at-Law
- Ms. Gabrielle Whitehall Judicial Assistant

The articles contained in the Journal, cover a range of topics including criminal law, access to justice, family law, and a number of case notes along with interesting interviews with senior practitioners.

On Saturday, 2 February 2019, the launch of the Journal was held at the 3Ws Oval, Cave Hill Campus of the University of the West Indies.

Practice Directions

<u>Practice Direction No. 1 of 2019</u> – Court-Annexed Mediation in the Supreme Court of Barbados, was made pursuant to Part 4.2(2) of the Supreme Court of Barbados (Civil Procedures) Rules 2008 ("the CPR") and supplements Part 25.1 of those Rules. This Practice Direction came into effect on 8 February 2019.

<u>Practice Direction No. 2 of 2019</u> – Court-Annexed Mediation in the Magistrates' Court of Barbados, was made pursuant to Section 268 of the Magistrates' Court Act 2001 Cap 116A. This Practice Direction came into effect on 8 February 2019.

<u>Practice Direction No. 3 of 2019</u> - Urgent Applications. This Practice Direction was made pursuant to Rules 4.1 and 4.2 of the <u>Barbados Supreme Court (Civil Procedure) Rules, 2008</u> and supplements Part 11, [Interlocutory Applications for Court Orders] Part 17 [Interim Remedies] and Part 62 [Appeals to the Court of Appeal] of the Rules and relates to Urgent Applications on Notice or Without Notice. This Practice Direction came into effect on 1 November 2019.

<u>Practice Direction No. 4 of 2019</u> – Designation of Persons as Terrorists and/or Terrorist Entities and Applications for Freezing Orders under Section 8 of the Anti-Terrorism (Amendment) Act, 2019-34. The purpose of this Practice Direction is to establish the procedure for the hearing and determination of applications for orders designating persons as terrorists or terrorists' entities based on the United Nations Security Council ("UNSC") Resolutions 1267 of (1999), 1373 of (2001) and the list established and maintained by the United Nations pursuant to Security Council Resolutions 1267/1989/2253, pursuant to section 8 of the Anti-Terrorism (Amendment) Act 2019-34. This Practice Direction came into effect on 29 November 2019.

<u>Practice Direction 5 of 2019</u> - The purpose of this Practice Direction is to establish the procedure for the hearing and determination of applications for Court Orders pursuant to the *Proceeds and Instrumentalities of Crime Act, 2019-17* ('the Act'). This Practice Direction came into effect on 29 November 2019.

Continuing Education and Training

Below is a list of the various activities in which members of the judiciary and magistracy participated by way of continuing education and training during the year under review.

	Event	Event Judge/Magistrate		Dates	
1	Launch of the Sexual Offences Model Court for Antigua and Barbuda	Hon. Madam Justice Jacqueline Cornelius	Antigua and Barbuda High Court	21 January 2019	
2	Cybercrime and Electronic Evidence Training for Prosecutors, Telecom Regulators and Investigators in the Caribbean Region	Hon. Mr. Justice Randall Worrell	Hilton, Barbados	11-13 March 2019	
3	Commonwealth Judicial Education Institute (CJEI) 26th Annual Intensive Study Programme for Judicial Educators	Hon. Madam Justice Sonia Richards	Halifax, Ottawa and Toronto	2-21 June 2019	
4	Hon. Sir Marston Gibson, K.A.		Belize City, Belize	31 October - 2 November 2019	
5	UNODC Global Maritime Crime Programme Legal Expert Group Meeting	Hon. Mr. Justice Christopher Birch	Port Louis, Mauritius	16-18 October 2019	

Caribbean Regional Judges' Forum		Port of Spain	5-6 November
6 on HIV, Human Rights and the Law	Hon. Mr. Justice Randall Worrell	Trinidad	2019

Judicial Retreat 2019

There was no Judicial Retreat for the year under review.

VOLUME OF LITIGATION IN THE SUPREME COURT Court of Appeal

During the period under review, a total of 72 Appeals were filed in the High Courts and Magistrates Courts as follows:

- 15 High Court Criminal Appeals
- 43 High Court Civil Appeals
- 9 Magisterial Criminal Appeals
- 5 Magisterial Civil Appeals

In addition, the Court of Appeal heard 71 Appeals, delivered 43 Decisions and disposed of 32 Chamber Applications.

Tables 1 to 4 below illustrate the volume of appeals and the pace of disposals for the period 1 January to 31 December 2019. Tables 5 to 7 compare similar information for the years 2016 to 2019.

Table 1 - Appeals Filed

Criminal Appeals (High Court)	15
Civil Appeals (High Court	43
Criminal Appeals (Magisterial)	9
Civil Appeals (Magisterial)	5
Total	72

Table 2 - Appeals Heard

rubic a Appeals Heart	4
Criminal Appeals (High Court)	17
Civil Appeals (High Court)	33
Criminal Appeals (Magisterial)	8
Civil Appeals (Magisterial)	13
Total	71

Table 3 - Decisions Given

Total	43
Civil Appeals (Magisterial)	7
Criminal Appeals (Magisterial)	5
Civil Appeals (High Court)	21
Criminal Appeals (High Court)	10

Table 4 - Chamber Applications

Chamber Applications Heard (Bail)	4
Chamber Applications Heard (Excluding Bail)	28
Total	32

Table 5 - Appeals Filed 2016-2019

	2016	2017	2018	2019
Criminal Appeals (High Court)	10	13	14	15
Civil Appeals (High Court)	34	34	26	43
Criminal Appeals (Magisterial)	11	7	6	9
Civil Appeals (Magisterial)	9	9	7	5

Table 6 - Appeals Heard 2016-2019

	2016	2017	2018	2019
Criminal Appeals (High Court)	19	6	17	17
Civil Appeals (High Court)	51	40	32	33
Criminal Appeals (Magisterial)	22	10	3	8
Civil Appeals (Magisterial)	7	7	8	13

Table 7 - Decisions Given 2016-2019

Tuble, Decisions diven acto 2019				
	2016	2017	2018	2019
Criminal Appeals (High Court)	7	6	6	10
Civil Appeals (High Court)	38	33	29	21
Criminal Appeals (Magisterial)	21	11	3	5
Civil Appeals (Magisterial)	5	7	4	7

High Court

During 2019, 3518 cases were filed in the following categories in the High Court:

- Civil Cases
- Criminal Cases
- Divorce Applications
- Probate Applications

The figures for the following categories of cases filed in the High Court during 2019 are set out in Table 8 and comparative statistics for the four-year period 2016 to 2019 are shown at Table 9.

Table 8 - Cases Filed in the High Court

Civil Cases	1668
Criminal Cases	301
Divorce Applications	422
Probate Applications	1127
Total	3518

^{*}Provisional figures are in blue

Table 9 - Comparison of Cases Filed in the High Court 2016-2019

	2016	2017	2018	2019
Civil Cases	1709	1985	1761	1668
Criminal Cases	149	386	203	301
Divorce Applications	469	410	331	422
Probate Applications	1005	1174	912	1127
Total	3332	3955	3207	3518

^{*}Provisional figures are in blue

Table 10 shows the comparative statistics of Family Cases other than Divorce for the four-year period 2016 to 2019.

Table 10 - Family cases other than Divorce Filed 2016-2019

CASE TYPE	2016	2017	2018	2019
Unions	17	15	11	12
Custody	2	4	5	9
Annulment	-	1	1	2
Paternity	-	1	-	-
Maintenance	46	30	33	26
Property	4	3	9	4
Adoption	4	3	5	5
Other	11	11	8	10
TOTAL	84	68	72	68

During 2019, there were 422 divorces which affected 259 children as shown in Table 11 below. The figure 246 represents the number of divorce applications filed in which there were no children to which Section 3 of the Family Law Act applies. The second half of the table deals with the duration of the marriage.

Table 11 - Divorces: Number of children and duration of Marriage

NO. OF DEPENDANTS DIVORCES		TOTAL NO. OF DEPENDANTS	DURATION OF MARRIAGE	DIVORCES
0	246		Under 1 year	
1	110	110	1 year	2
2	51	102	2 years	18
3	13	39	3 years	16
4	2	8	4 years	21
5	-	-	5 years	29
6	-	-	6 years	16
7	-	-	7 years	16
8	-	-	8 years	20
9	-	-	9 years	21
10 and over	-	-	10-14 years	103
Unknown	-	-	15-19 years	68
	-	-	20-24 years	38
	-	-	25 years and over	54
TOTAL	422	259		422

Tables 12 and 13 reflect Custodial and Non-Custodial Sentences imposed by the High Court in 2019.

Table 12 - Criminal Cases: Custodial Sentences

Table 12 -	Cimma	Lases	POPULATION OF THE PARTY OF THE	-	ENCE	THE PERSONS WHEN THE RESIDENCE	V			T
OFFENCE	Under 6 months	Over 6 months	1-3 years	4-5 years	6-10 years	11-15 years	Over 15 years	Life	Psychiatric Hospital	TOTAL
Firearms, illegal possession			5	5	9		3	1		22
Possession of ammunition			5		4					9
Robbery/Theft/Fraud			1	1						2
Handling stolen goods			1		1					2
Wounding/GBH/Assault/SBH/ABH			2	6	4					12
Rape/Indecent assault				1						1
Importation of a controlled drug					2	1				3
Possession of drugs/trafficking			2	2	7					11
Murder/Manslaughter/dangerous driving							1			1
Attempted Murder							1			1
Burglary/Larceny/House breaking				2	2	2	4			10
Endangering Life				1						1
Escape/Harbouring a prisoner			1							1
Serious Indecency				1						1
Abduction						1				1
Sacrilege				1						1
Other		V-200770V-118M6NOV		3						3
TOTAL	0	0	17	23	29	4	9	0	0	82

Table 13 - Criminal Cases: Non-Custodial Sentences

	lty	peg		no		ded	Fin	es	nued	wi			
	Not Guilty	Not Gui	Not Gui	Dismissed	C.R.D	Probation		Suspended Sentence	Under \$1000	Over \$1000	Discontinued	Withdrawn	Total
				1-3 years	Over 3 years								
Firearms/illegal possession	1	3	3					1			8		
Possession of ammunition	1	4	6								7		
Robbery/Theft/Fraud/F. Accounting	2	3	1								6		
Wounding/GBH/Assault/SBH/ABH	7		1	1		1		1		3	14		
Indecent assault/Rape	4	ALBOTA CARROLL AND A STATE OF THE STATE OF T						1	1		6		
Importation of controlled drug			7								7		
Possession of drugs/trafficking			13					1			14		
Murder/manslaughter/dangerous driving		1						3			3		
Burglary/larceny/house breaking									1		1		
Kidnapping										1	1		
Arson			1			e-wayayayayayayayayayay					1		
Serious indecency		-								1	1		
Violent Disorder		Control State Column								1	1		
Other	1								1		2		
TOTAL	16	6	32	1	0	1	0	7	3	6	72		

Table 14 shows comparative statistics of Orders and Decisions for the four-year period 2016 to 2019.

Table 14 - Orders and Written Decisions

Year	Civil Orders	Family Orders	Criminal Orders	Total No. of Orders	No. of Written Decisions
2016	2026	939	0	2965	38
2017	2425	992	2	3419	53
2018	2061	544	4	2681	29
2019	2169	802	0	2971	42

VOLUME OF LITIGATION IN MAGISTRATES' COURTS

Once again, delay in producing relevant statistics for some Magistrates' Courts continues to preclude the Council from being in a position to vouch for the accuracy of the volume of litigation in these courts. Some of the figures below are therefore only provisional.

Tables 15 and 16 reflect the number of cases lodged and adjudicated in each Magistrates Court for the period under review.

Table 15 - Cases Lodged in each Magistrate's Court

	Case Type										
Court	Criminal	Traffic	Civil	Domestic	Domestic Violence	Juvenile	Total				
District 'A' No.1	1121	33	3		60		1217				
District 'A' No.2	1071	30	8		47		1156				
District 'A' Traffic	121	6689	8		7		6825				
District 'A' Civil			574				574				
District 'A' Domestic				561			561				
Juvenile						42	42				
District 'B'	283	628	38	118	14	5	1086				
District 'B' Oistins	484	265	74	108	32	3	966				
District 'C'	372	128	27	131	38	1	697				
District 'D'	125	321	15	26	28		515				
District 'E'	216	729	16	133	38	3	1135				
District 'E' Holetown	364	896	32	113	48		1453				
District 'F'	78	36	3	26	5		148				
District 'F' Belleplaine	60	9	2	43	4		118				
Total	4295	9764	800	1259	321	54	16493				

Table 16 - Cases Adjudicated in each Magistrate's Court

	Case Type										
Court	Criminal	Traffic	Civil	Domestic	Domestic Violence	Juvenile	Special Coroner	Total			
District 'A' No.1	1150	18			74			1242			
District 'A' No.2	199	18			13			230			
District 'A' Traffic	57	823						880			
District 'A' Civil			106					106			
District 'A' Domestic				791				791			
Special Coroner							23	23			
Juvenile						75	-	75			
District 'B'			12	116				128			
District 'B' Oistins	363	111	55	107	27	2		665			
District 'C'	319	126	17	247	39	3		751			
District 'D'	82	196	6	58	26			368			
District 'E'			5	23				28			
District 'E' Holetown	76	65	15	126	9			291			
District 'F'	96	28	1	41	7	1		174			
District 'F' Belleplaine	20	12	3	36	3	1		75			
Total	2362	1397	220	1545	198	82	23	5827			

^{*} Provisional figures are in blue

The number of cases adjudicated in the Coroner's Court for the period 2017 to 2019 are illustrated below in Table 17.

Table 17 - Report from the Coroner's Court

Verdict	2017	2018	2019
Natural	2		
Unnatural Death	1		
Suicide	3		
Suicide by ingestion of poison	4		
Suicide by hanging	4		4
Suicide by drowning	1		
Suicide by drowning whilst the balance of mind was disturbed	1		
Suicide by gunshot injury	2		
Accident/Suicide	2		
Accidental death	3	2	9
Accidental death by drowning	3	4	1
Accidental death as a result of a fall	1		
Accidental self-induced acute alcohol intoxication	2		
Accident (Presumed cocaine intoxication)			1
Vehicular Accident/Vehicular Collision	13	8	8
Accidental death by electrocution	1		
Drowning	2	***************************************	
Lawful killing	1		
Unlawful killing	1		
Open		3	
Total	47	17	23

ATTORNEYS-AT-LAW

At 31 January 2019, 836 Attorneys-at-Law had registered to practise law in Barbados.

In addition, Yohance Cato-Griffith was admitted to practice law on 19 July 2019, Noelize Didier was admitted to practice law on 16 August 2019 and Deshon Griffith was admitted to practice law on 4 October 2019.

At a Special Sitting of the Supreme Court on Friday, 11 October 2019, the following Attorneys-at-law were admitted to practise law:

- 1. Mariah Arthur
- 2. Ishaaq Badat
- 3. Craig Banfield
- 4. Brian Blackman
- 5. Rose Blenman
- Afiza Boyce
- 7. Justin Boyce
- 8. Asante Brathwaite
- 9. Shanelle Brathwaite
- 10. Jeremy Brereton
- 11. Andrea Burgess
- 12. Alyssa Burrowes
- 13. Kaviar Callender
- 14. Josée Clarke-Cumberbatch
- 15. Dominque Clement
- 16. Maria Collins
- 17. Thea Corbin
- 18. Ieneise Derrell
- 19. Christansia Evelyn
- 20. Ashley Felix
- 21. Krystal Fenty
- 22. Kafeisha Francis
- 23. Deandra Frederick
- 24. Martie Garnes
- 25. Anthony Gibbs
- 26. Janene Gibson
- 27. Romario Gittens
- 28. Karina Goodridge
- 29. Deshon Griffith
- 30. Velda Griffith-Moore
- 31. Lyndy-Ann Guiseppi
- 32. Shernell Hadaway
- 33. Kena Jerson
- 34. Maya Kellman
- 35. Kimberley Knight

- 36. Mareah Knight
- 37. Necole Layne
- 38. Anthony Lloyd
- 39. Sherril Lovell-Cleveland
- 40. Abiola Lowe
- 41. Christan-Marc Mattis
- 42. Alexei McKell
- 43. Kimberley Moe
- 44. Shamar Mondere
- 45. Haydn Persaud
- 46. Kenidi Prescod
- 47. Ronshalee Proverbs
- 48. Brian Reece
- 49. Najmah Reece
- 50. Akeem Rowe
- 51. Sharon Scott
- 52. Jamila Smith
- 53. Latisha Springer
- 54. Crystalle Walcott
- 55. Faith Walke
- 56. Peter Ward
- 57. Rachelle Ward
- 58. Rudolph Waterman
- 59. Kashawn Wood
- 60. Rhea Worrell
- 61. Tyrone Yearwood
- 62. Andrew Ramjohn

OBITUARY

The Council records with deep sadness the passing of several stalwarts of the legal fraternity in 2019.

The Supreme Court paid tribute to Sir John Connell, K.A., QC, Mr. Woodbine Davis, QC, Mr. Oliver Browne, QC and Ms. Marva Clarke at a Special Sitting of the Supreme Court on Friday, 18 October 2019. Sir John Connell, K.A., QC and Ms. Marva Clarke passed away in 2018.

The Supreme Court paid tribute to Mr. Oliver Browne, CHB, QC, Mr. Edmund Bailey, QC, Ms. Tracelyn Rollock and Mrs. Kathy-Ann Trotman at a Special Sitting of the Supreme Court on Friday, 15 November 2019.

May they all rest in peace and rise in glory.